I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The petitioner is the State of Washington. The petition is filed by

Clallam County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney JESSE ESPINOZA. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished

decision in State v. Mylan, No. 47253 -8 -II (March 15, 2016), 
1

in which

the Court held that counsel for the defendant was ineffective due to failing

to request the defense of necessity instruction in defense of the charge of

Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree. The State filed a

motion for extension of time to accept its motion for reconsideration

which remains undecided. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether criteria set forth in RAP 13. 4( b) are met, and this Court

should thus accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals holding

that the defendant was prejudiced by ineffective assistance of counsel, 

where: 

1. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the decisions

of this Court in In re Riee,
2

and State v. Grier,
3

because in determining

State v. Mylan, No. 47253- 8- 11, 2016 WL 1065354 (Wn. Ct. App. Mar. 15, 2016). 

a
118 Wn.2d 876, 888- 89, 828 P.2d 1086 ( 1992) ( holding " the court must make every

effort to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and must strongly presume that
counsel's conduct constituted sound trial strategy."). 
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whether the defendant was prejudiced by counsel' s alleged failure to

request a necessity instruction, the decision ignored whether there was a

conceivable trial strategy and relied upon the distorting effect of hindsight

when finding prejudice based upon acquittals on other counts in order to

find a reasonable probability that the jury would have acquitted on the

charge ofUnlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree; and

2. The Court of Appeals, Division 11, decision conflicts with

the decision of this Court in State v. Fernandez—Medina, 
4

by failing to

consider all the evidence presented to the jury when deciding whether a

jury instruction for necessity was appropriate; and

3. The Court of Appeals, Division 1I, decision conflicts with

the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, in State v. Jeffrey,
5

by

expanding the necessity instruction, expressly adopted from United States

v. Lemon,
6

such that the instruction is appropriate upon a showing of a

3
171 Wn.2d 17, 42, 246 P.3d 1260 ( 2011) ( holding defendant has burden of rebutting

strong presumption of reasonable performance and " establishing the absence of any
conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance."). 

A 141 Wn.2d 448, 456, 6 P. 3d 1150 ( 2000) ( holding that the trial court " must consider all
of the evidence that is presented at trial when it is deciding whether or not an instruction
should be given."), 

s 77 Wn. App. 222, 224, 889 P.2d 956 ( 1995) ( holding fear of threat of danger in form of
person seen outside bedroom window in middle of night was insufficient to justify
necessity instruction). 

6
824 F.2d 763 ( 9th Cir. 1987) ( holding necessity instruction inappropriate because

Lemon was not under present threat of death when he picked up a firearm even if he
honestly believed a kidnapping was taking place). 
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subjective belief of imminent danger; and

3. The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest

that should be determined by this Court because the crime of Unlawful

Possession of a Firearm is a strict liability crime, and although

Washington Courts have allowed the defense of necessity as expressly

adopted from Lemon, the Court of Appeals, by expanding the narrow

necessity defense from Lemon, greatly expands the circumstances in

which a convicted felon may lawfully possess a firearm and opens the

door to all sorts of fraud as expressed in United States v. Lewis, 628 F.2d

1276, 1279 ( 10th Cir. 1980); and

4. The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest

that should be determined by this Court and involves a question of law

under the U.S. Constitution because the Court of Appeals' holding, 

finding defense counsel ineffective under the circumstances of this case, 

may interfere with an accused' s right to effective assistance of counsel

because it has the effect of chilling trial counsel from pursuing legitimate

trial strategies in which reasonable concessions are made to foster

credibility with a jury and seek acquittals on more serious charges? 

3



IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On Aug. 24, 2014, the appellant, Mr, Mylan accompanied his

friend Ms. Rachelle Cabe to Forks, Washington. RP 54, 75, 81 ( 1/ 29/ 15). 

On the way Ms. Cabe began texting her drug supplier, Mr. Diamond

Mueller, and informed Mylan that she was going to get heroin from

Mueller because she was getting sick. RP 32- 34. 

Mylan was experienced with heroin and familiar signs of heroin

withdrawal. RP 33, 34, 45, 87, 89. Mylan expressed concern to Ms. Cabe

about getting heroin. RP 34. Without telling Ms. Cabe his intentions, he

told Ms. Cabe that he would meet with Mueller for her. RP 35. 

They planned to meet up with Mueller at the 76 gas station in

Forks. RP 3 5. Ms. Cabe described what Mueller looked like and what he

was driving so Mylan could meet with him. RP 35. Mylan, without

telling anyone, decided to intervene to convince Mueller to not provide

heroin to Ms. Cabe, RP 40- 41. 

After arriving at the 76 gas station in Forks, Mylan waited for

Mueller to come out of the store and go to the truck described by Ms. 

Cabe. RP 36. Mueller was pumping gas when Mylan approached and

asked him if he was Diamond, told him that he was there for Rachelle, 

and asked if they could talk. RP 36- 37. Mueller said he had to go

7
All of Mylan' s testimony occurred on Jan. 29, 2015. Further references to Mylan' s

testimony will be cited with "RP" only and no date. 
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somewhere but Mylan could come with him and Mueller would bring him

back. Id. 

Without asking where, Mylan agreed to go with Mueller and got

into his truck. RP 37. When they got on the road, Mueller offered to

heroin to Mylan. RP 37. Mylan said no and he does not do heroin. RP

37. Mueller got upset and offered again and Mylan told him that he

refused again and Mueller looked confused. RP 38. 

Then, after Mueller had already become outraged and confused, 

Mylan confronted Mueller, " man to man," and asked Mueller to not sell

drugs to Ms. Cabe. RP 40, 41, 43. Mueller stepped on the brakes, pulled

out a pistol, and placed it on his right thigh facing forward. RP 43. 

Mueller asked Mylan, " so you want me to stop selling heroin to Rachelle

because she has a kid" and Mylan said " yeah". RP 44. 

Then Mylan testified that Mueller pointed the firearm at Mylan' s

head and told him he was tired of people trying to tell him what to do and

that Mylan was not going to tell him who to deal with or not to deal with. 

RP 45. Mylan testified that Mueller lowered the gun and said, " If you' ve

got a problem with that you' re going to get shot." RP 45- 46. 

There was no altercation up to that point. RP 46. Mylan testified: 

S] o as soon as his eyes diverted that' s when I grabbed the pistol and I

pushed it to the right and we started struggling. RP 47. 

R



During the struggle for the firearm, the firearm discharged into the

dashboard and the bullet lodged itself in the battery cable on the front

driver' s side of the vehicle. RP 47, 48 ( 1/ 27/ 15), RP 53, 122, 123

1127/ 15). Mylan managed to eject the magazine from the gun (RP 48- 49) 

wrested control of the firearm from Mueller. RP 49- 50. 

Then Mylan testified that he repeatedly struck Mueller on the head

3 or 4 times with the firearm. ( RP 50- 51, 53, 92 ( 1129115). Mylan

testified that after striking Mueller, Mueller stopped trying to get the gun

back and he kind of fell on the floor and rolled out of the truck. RP 53- 

54, 93. Meanwhile, a bystander, happened to be watching. 

Mr. Stienbaugh was a bystander in his own truck who drove up

behind Mueller' s truck and slowed down to pass but stopped when he saw

the driver side door open and close a couple of times. RP 43 ( 1126/ 15). 

Steinbaugh testified that he saw Mueller drop out of the truck like

a sack of potatoes. RP 43. Muller staggered while standing up and his

face was covered in blood. RP 43. Mueller came walking quickly toward

Steinbaugh' s truck and half fell on the hood of the truck, came over to

Stienbaugh' s window and started screaming, half sobbing, telling

Steinbaugh that the guy ( Mylan) asked for a ride up A Road and then

started beating him and jacking him. RP 48 ( 1/ 26/ 15). Mueller asked

Steinbaugh for a ride away. RP 48 ( 1/ 26/ 15). 

6



Mylan testified that, after Mueller rolled out of the truck, he

jumped in the driver' s seat of Mueller' s truck, gunned it forward, tried to

turn it around, got stuck in a ditch, found the gun on the floorboard and

took off running with it. RP 55, 56, 71. 

First, Mylan testified that he tried to take off in Mueller' s truck

because " I figured there would be police in place at once. They would

come together all at once. I figured I need to get out of here." RP 54. 

Then, Mylan testified that he tried to take the truck because he

didn' t know if Mueller still had the gun. RP 54. On cross examination, 

Mylan testified that he assumed the gun fell to the floor of the truck when

Mueller rolled out of the truck. RP 94. Then Mylan testified again that he

took the truck because he didn' t know if Mueller had the gun. RP 96, 97. 

However, Steinbaugh claimed Mueller had been at Steinbaugh' s

window for about 20- 30 seconds, and then, Steinbaugh saw that Mueller' s

truck started moving and did a K turn in the middle of the road to head

back in the opposite direction. RP 49 ( 1126115). Steinbaugh testified that

Mylan drove the truck into a ditch, tried to gun it out, and stopped a few

feet short of the front of Steinbaugh' s truck. RP 49 ( 1126115). 

Mylan testified that after he got Mueller' s truck stuck in the ditch, 

I grabbed the gun and got out of the vehicle and ran." RP 56. Mylan ran

by Steinbaugh, and as soon as Steinbaugh saw the gun he hit the gas and

7



got out of there. RP 56- 57. Mylan later testified that he stopped to tell

Steinbaugh that Mueller just pulled a gun on him. RP 97--98. 

Contrary to Mylan' s testimony, Steinbaugh testified that Mylan got

out and walked right past the front of his vehicle by the passenger side and

disappeared. RP 49- 50 ( 1/ 26/ 15). Steinbaugh testified that as Mylan

walked by, " I saw him holding a pistol in his right hand." RP 50

1/ 26/ 15). Steinbaugh was sure it was a firearm based on the way it

looked and the way Mylan was carrying it. RP 54 ( 1/ 26115). 

Steinbaugh testified further that after Mylan walked by, Mueller

was still saying the same things. RP 48, 50 ( 1/ 26/ 15). Steinbaugh took

off and called 911 about 15 seconds after he saw Mylan walk by with the

gun in his hand. RP 50 ( 1126115). 

Mylan testified that he ran down the road, threw the gun into the

woods 10 feet past. Steinbaugh' s truck, and then ran back towards the

highway another 10 or 15 feet before jumping into a bush. RP 57- 58. 

Mylan immediately called Ms. Cabe ( RP 59) and Ms. Cabe arrived within

a minute or so although Mylan did not know where he was. RP 83---84. 

Then, Mylan testified that he tried to get Ms. Cabe to go back and so he

could check to make sure Mueller was ok because he was concerned

Mueller might be lying in a ditch or bleeding to death. RP 59- 60. 

Mylan admitted to prior felony convictions of 4 counts of Forgery, 

8



Theft in the Second Degree, 4 counts of Residential Burglary, and

Trafficking in Stolen Property in the Second Degree. RP 69- 70 ( 1/ 29/ 15). 

When initially questioned about the incident, Mylan told Detective

Keegan he was not in the area when the incident occurred, was not the

person in still shots of surveillance, and that he got the wrong guy. RP

138- 140 ( 1127115). 

Mueller testified$ that on August 24, 2014, he was at the gas

station in Forks pumping gas when Mylan approached him and asked

Mueller if he knew where the A Road was. RP 73. Mueller told him it

was about a mile up the road. RP 73. Mylan walked away and then came

back and asked for a ride meet up with a friend. RP 74. Mueller agreed

RP 76) and when Mueller pulled up to the A Road there was nobody

there so Mylan asked Mueller to keep going. RP 77- 78. Mueller wasn' t

concerned because he has picked up hitchhikers in the area in the past. RP

78. When they got to the blue gate where people go to do drugs, Mylan

pulled out a gun and aimed it at Mueller' s head. RP 79. 

Mylan yelled at Mueller to pull over that he was taking the truck. 

RP 79. The two argued and Mueller grabbed the gun and pushed it down

and the gun discharged. RP 79. Mylan pulled the gun back and started

hitting Mueller in the face and head with the pistol. RP 79, 81. 

g RP 72- 115 ( 1127/ 15). 

9



Mueller believed he lost consciousness and from there on

everything was fuzzy. RP 81. The next thing Mueller remembers is

trying to start his truck when it was in the ditch. RP 82. Mueller provided

the same story to law enforcement. RP 28--29 ( 1/ 26115). Mueller told the

same story to Steinbaugh while under the stress of the incident that just

took place, ( RP 46 ( 1126/ 15), and he told Ms. Lindsey Cugham who

showed up later what happened when he was still " jumbled like he didn' t

quite know exactly what happened." RP 60 ( 1/ 26/ 15). Dr. Hillman

testified that based on his 30 or so years of experience, Mueller' s injuries

were consistent with his story of being pistol whipped to the point of

unconsciousness. RP 65 ( 1126115). 

Mueller also testified that he hid his friend' s gun in the glove box

because he was a felon as a minor and was not supposed to have it. RP

87. Mueller also admitted to having heroin in the truck. RP 87. Mueller

testified that he had immunity to testify but had initially avoided law

enforcement after that day because he heard everything had been found in

his truck. RP 90. 

About a month later, Mueller spoke with law enforcement and

provided a statement about the incident. RP 90. Mueller testified that he

understood that he did not have to cooperate and testify ( RP 110) and

would not have testified but for the immunity agreement. RP 111. 

10



V. ARGUMENT

A. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

BECAUSE ALL OF THE CRITERIA UNDER

RAP 13. 4 ( b) HAVE BEEN ESTABLISHED. 

RAP 13. 4( b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court' s

acceptance of review: 

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme
Court only: ( 1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in

conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or ( 2) If the

decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a

decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or ( 3) 

If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the

State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court' s holding
in In re Rice,

9
and State v. Grier, ° because it ignores whether there was a

conceivable trial strategy and relied upon the distorting effect of
hindsight when finding prejudice due to alleged ineffective assistance of
counsel. 

The first element [ of ineffective assistance of counsel] is met by
showing that counsel' s conduct fell below an objective standard of
reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687- 88, 104 S. Ct. at 2064. 

In this regard, the court must make every effort to eliminate the
distorting effects of hindsight and must strongly presume that
counsel' s conduct constituted sound trial strategy. Strickland, at
689, 104 S. Ct. at 2065. 

In re Rice, 118 Wn. 2d at 888- 89. 

Strickland begins with a " strong presumption that counsel' s

9 118 Wn.2d 876, 888- 89, 828 P.2d 1086 ( 1992). 

171 Wn.2d 17, 42, 246 P. 3d 1260 ( 2011). 
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performance was reasonable." Kyllo, 166 Wash.2d at 862, 215 P.3d

177. To rebut this presumption, the defendant bears the burden of

establishing the absence of any " conceivable legitimate tactic

explaining counsel' s performance." Reichenbach, 153 Wash.2d at

130, 101 P.3d 80 ( emphasis added). 

State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 42. 

Here, the Court incorrectly opined the State argued that Mylan

argued self-defense at the expense of risking a lesser conviction because

he could not argue both self-defense and necessity as they were legally

mutually exclusive. See State v. Mylan, No. 47253 -8 -II, slip op. at 10- 11. 

Mylan initially told Detective Keegan he was not in the area when

the incident occurred, was not the person in still shots of surveillance, and

that he got the wrong guy. RP 138- 140 ( 1127115). However, Steinbaugh

positively identified Mylan at trial and testified that he watched Mylan

walk by his vehicle holding a firearm. RP 49- 50, 53- 54 ( 1/ 26115). 

Therefore, as there was no way around Steinbaugh' s testimony, the State

argued it was reasonable strategy to concede Possession of the Firearm

and argue self-defense. See Respondent' s Br. at 29- 30. 

Moreover, there are other compelling reasons why such a strategy

would be reasonable. Counsel must be mindful of intangible factors such

as the evidence before the jury, whether the client will present well with a

jury, the strength of the State' s case, and the effect of impeachable

criminal histories, and ethical considerations. The defense must also

12



consider that the affirmative defense of necessity would require arguing to

establish by preponderance that Mylan was faced with an unlawful and

present threat of death or serious bodily injury when he took possession of

the firearm from the floor of the truck. 

Here, the jury already heard that Mueller fell out of his truck after

Mylan beat him on the head with the firearm. Both Mylan and Steinbaugh

testified to this. Mueller, having sustained multiple fractures to his face

and lacerations to his head, staggered over to Steinbaugh half sobbing, 

seeking help to get away from Mylan. RP 44, 48- 49 { 1/ 26/ 15). There

was no evidence that Mueller was about to or was even capable of

attacking Mylan after he fell out of the vehicle. 

Additionally, contrary to any stated fear of death, Mylan testified that

he tried to go back to the scene because he feared for Mueller' s life. Ms. 

Lindsey Cugham testified that Mueller told her what happened when he

was still "jumbled like he didn' t quite know exactly what happened." RP

60 ( 1/ 26/ 15). Dr. Hillman testified that based on his 30 years of

experience, Mueller' s injuries were consistent with his story of being

pistol whipped to the point of unconsciousness. The jury heard all. 

The jury also heard Mylan admit that he was convicted of 4 counts

of Forgery, Theft in the Second Degree, 4 counts of Residential Burglary, 

and Trafficking in Stolen Property in the Second Degree. RP 69---70

13



1129115). The jury was not presented with any crimes of dishonesty

offered in regards to Mueller. Finally, the State presented unbiased

witnesses which included Steinbaugh, Ms. Cugham, and Dr. Hillman. 

There were other problems with Mylan' s testimony. For instance, 

the jury heard Mylan testify that he ran past Steinbaugh but Steinbaugh

testified that Mylan got out of the truck and walked past. Mylan testified

that after Mueller rolled out of the vehicle, he tried to take off right away. 

Steinbaugh testified that Mueller was at his window for about 20- 30

seconds before the other truck began to move. RP 49 ( 1125115). 

Considering the above, how could defense counsel argue that

Mueller presented an unlawful and present threat of death or serious

bodily injury to Mylan at the point Mylan picked up the firearm to leave

on foot? How could counsel argue this threat when the jury heard

Steinbaugh testify that Mueller fell out of the truck like a sack of potatoes, 

stumbled over to Steinbaugh half sobbing and seeking his help to leave? 

There was a significant risk that arguing that Mueller posed a present

threat of death when Mylan took the firearm from the truck could cast

doubt on the credibility of the defense. Further, it was reasonable to

predict the defense could not meet its burden and that the jury would not

find the necessary elements for necessity defense. 

There are many examples where concessions of guilt have been

14



deemed legitimate trial strategy. See State v. Silva, 106 Wn. App. 586, 

596, 24 P. 3d 477 ( 2001) (" Such acknowledgment can be a sound tactic

when the evidence is indeed overwhelming ( and there is no reason to

suppose that any juror doubts this) and when the count in question is a

lesser count, so that there is an advantage to be gained by winning the

confidence of the jury."); see, e. g., U.S, v. Gonzalez, 596 F.3d 1228, 

1238- 40 ( 10th Cir. 2010) ( concession of guilt of conspiracy did not admit

all counts because argued that uninvolved after a particular point); Black v. 

Workman, 682 F.3d 880, 902- 04 ( 10th Cir. 2012) ( sound strategic

decision not to alienate the jury in a case with sympathetic victims); U.S

v. Fredman, 390 F. 3d 1153 ( 9th Cir. 2004) ( admitting cooking meth in

California Court denying conspiracy in Oregon); Thompson v. Haley, 255

F.3d 1292, 1298- 99 ( 11th Cir. 2001). 

The Fourth Circuit used a military analogy, stating that there was a

difference between a tactical retreat and a complete surrender. Clozza v. 

Murray, 913 F.2d 1092, 1094 ( 4th Cir. 1990). See also U.S. v. Wilkes, 46

F.3d 640, 644 ( 7th Cir. 1995) ( conceding lesser offense to enhance

credibility). 

Furthermore, it should be noted that there was no way to predict

the jury would acquit Mylan on all charges except for unlawful possession

of a firearm. However, the Court found prejudice on the basis that the jury

15



would have acquitted based on the acquittals on the other 4 charges. 

Perhaps most importantly, after weighing the wildly varying accounts
of the altercation, the jury weighed the credibility of the parties and
ultimately acquitted Mylan of the four charges where Mylan asserted
an affirmative defense. Had the jury had the opportunity to decide on
a necessity defense, it would have weighed the same evidence it used
to acquit Mylan of the other four charges. 

State v. Mylan, No. 47253 -8 -II, slip op. at 12. 

Looking at the acquittals in hindsight and then applying that as a

reason for which defense counsel should have asked for the necessity

instruction ignores the strong presumption of effective assistance. See In

re Rice, 118 Wn.2d at 888- 89; see also Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 40. 11 The

same logic could result in a situation where if Mylan was convicted of

every count, counsel would have been found effective. 

Moreover, it becomes clear when considering the facts in evidence, 

the criminal histories of Mylan and Ms. Cabe, and the absence of

impeachable crimes for the State' s neutral witnesses that the defense was

highly unlikely to be able to meet its burden of proof for a necessity

defense. Thus, conceding on the lesser charge of unlawful possession of a

firearm to foster credibility with the jury and not trying to argue necessity

when the jury heard too much evidence to the contrary is a conceivable

The verdict in the instant case was inconsistent as well as the jury acquitted on the
charge of Theft of a Motor Vehicle without the need for a necessity instruction yet
convicted on Unlawful Possession of a Firearm. This may have been overlooked as the
Court opined that "[ w] ithout the necessity defense to which he was entitled, the jury
would have had to abandon its duty and ignore the evidence in order to find Mylan not

16



reasonable trial strategy. See Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 42. 

Therefore, the Mylan Court failed to heed the directives of this

Court in In re Rice and State v. Grier. 

2. The Court of Appeals, Division II, decision conflicts with the decision of

the Court of Appeals, Division 1H, in State a Jeffrey, by expanding the
necessity instruction, expressly adopted from United States v. Lemon, 
such that the instruction is appropriate merely upon a showing of a
subjective belief of imminent danger. 

The Court stated that, " After getting the truck stuck in a ditch, 

Mylan believed the only way to secure his safety was to take the gun from

inside the vehicle and throw it in the woods where Mueller, who may still

have been in possession of the gun' s magazine, could not retrieve it." 

State v. Mylan, No. 47253- 8- 11, slip op. at 8 ( emphasis added). The Court

held this evidence was sufficient to show that Mylan was under an

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