RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jul 28, 2016, 3:43 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93357-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Petitioner,
V.
AARON MYLAN
Respondent.
ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF
APPEALS, DIVISION TWO,
Court of Appeals No. 47253-8-II
Clallam County Superior Court No. 14-1-00325-0
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LISE ELLNER
Attorney for Respondent
LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER
Post Office Box 2711
Vashon, WA 98070
(206) 930-1090
WSBA #20955

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Diamond Mueller, a heroin dealer from Forks, Washington, testified that he met Mylan at a gas station in Forks and gave him a ride down "A" road, a hang-out for people living in Forks. 2RP 77, 79. According to Mueller, Mylan asked him about drugs in the Fork's area but did not ask for any for himself. 2RP 77. Muller claimed that Mylan pulled a gun on him and yelled at Mueller to pull over. 2RP 79. According to Mueller, he grabbed the gun from Mylan and it discharged, but Mylan regained control of the gun and started hitting Mueller in the face. 2RP 79. Mueller woke up in a ditch and tried to start his truck. 2RP 82.

Before August 24, 2014, Mylan, a good friend of Rachelle Cabe, never met Mueller, Cabe's heroin dealer. 4RP 17, 23, 31, 32. Mylan and Cabe hung out all day on August 24, 2014 until Cabe started to get "sick" from heroin withdrawals, at which time she insisted on meeting with her dealer Mueller but felt too. 4RP 32-34, 37. Mylan agreed to meet Mueller at a gas station instead of Cabe going on her own. 4RP 34-35. Mylan did not ask for a ride but asked to talk to Mueller because he wanted him to stop selling drugs to Cabe. 4RP 38. Mylan however, acquiesced and entered the truck. During the drive, Mueller offered Mylan heroin which he rejected because he does not use heroin. 4RP 37.

When Mylan explained that he did not want Mueller to sell to Cabe, Mueller became angry, hit the brakes and repeated "so you do not want me to sell to Rachelle because she has a kid?". 4RP 44. When Mylan responded "yeah", Mueller grabbed a pistol from under his seat and slammed on the brakes to point the gun at Mylan's head. 4RP 44. Mueller told Mylan that "he was tired of people fucking with him" and that Mylan was not "going to tell him who to deal with and not to deal with." 4RP 45.

Mueller told Mylan if he had a problem with that he would be shot; Mylan remained quiet and Mueller began to lower the pistol away from Mylan's head. 4RP 45. Mylan shifted back in his seat and quietly looked a Mueller afraid to provoke him. 4RP 46. Mueller looked away for a moment and Mylan grabbed the pistol and struggled to gain control of it. 4RP 47. The gun discharged and the magazine ejected during the struggle, but Mylan was ultimately able to wrestle the gun from Mueller while Mueller tried to hit Mylan with the magazine. Mylan was able to knock Mueller out of the truck with the gun. 4RP 47-54, 92-93.

After Mueller rolled out of the truck, Mylan tried to drive the truck, but it got stuck in a ditch. While in the driver's seat, the pistol rolled onto Mylan's foot. 4RP 56. In fight or flight, panic mode, terrified that Mueller would shoot him, Mylan grabbed the gun and ran into the wood, where he flung the gun into the bushes.4RP 57, 72, 82, 97-101.

E. <u>ARGUMENT WHY STATE'S PETITION FOR</u> REVIEW SHOULD BE <u>DENIED</u>.

Contrary to the state's assertion in its petition for review, the state cannot meet the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) because the

Court of Appeals underlying decision is not in conflict with any Washington State cases, and specifically, not in conflict with *In re Rice*, 118 Wn.2d 876, 888-89, 828 P.2d 1086 (1992); *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 42, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) or *State v. Jeffrey*, 77 Wn.App. 222, 225, 889 P.2d 956 (1995).

1. <u>Ineffective Assistance of Counsel</u>

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Mylan was denied effective assistance of counsel. Court of Appeals Op. at p. 6. Contrary to the state's argument that the Court ignored the possibility that trial counsel's decisions were based on trial strategy as required under *State v. Grier*, that is precisely what the Court of Appeals considered. The Court of Appeals expressly held that counsel's decision not to request a necessity defense was a complete failure to defend on the fire arm charge that could not have been a tactical decision. Court of Appeals Op. at p. 10-11

"Deficient performance is not shown by matters that go to trial strategy or tactics." *Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d at 77-78. Therefore, defense counsel's failure to request a necessity instruction is not deficient performance if the decision to do so was a matter of trial strategy. The State argues that defense counsel's choice to argue self-defense rather than necessity was a legitimate trial strategy. We disagree.

The State argues that arguing self-defense was a strategic choice to seek acquittal of the assault and robbery charges at the expense of risking the lesser conviction of unlawful possession of a firearm. But, Mylan's counsel was not required to choose between arguing self-defense and the defense of necessity. The State does not point to any legal conflict between these defenses, nor are we aware of any. Therefore, we conclude that defense counsel was not prohibited from requesting a necessity defense instruction to defend Mylan against the unlawful possession of a firearm charge by virtue of seeking a theory of self-defense for the assault charges.

Once the State's argument falls away, no trial strategy explains defense counsel's failure to request a necessity instruction on the unlawful possession of a firearm charge. Mylan's trial counsel failed to defend that charge at all.

(Emphasis Added) Id.

This analysis is not in conflict with *Strickland1* or the State Supreme Court decisions cited in *Grier* requiring the defense to establish that trial counsel did not have a "conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance". *Grier*, 171 Wn.2d at 42. The Court of Appeals correctly explained that counsel's complete failure to defend Mylan on the fire arm charge was prejudicial ineffective assistance of counsel. Here, rather than being in conflict with precedent, the state simply disagrees with

¹ Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 105 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

the Court of Appeals decision, which does not fit the criteria for granting discretionary review in this Court.

2. Necessity Defense.

Again contrary to the state's assertion in its petition for review, the Court of Appeals did not expand the test for a necessity defense in *Jeffrey*. The Court of Appeals in this case precisely mirrors the *Lemon* Court's criteria. Opinion at pp. 7-10.

Lemon must demonstrate that: (1) he was under unlawful and present threat of death or serious bodily injury; (2) he did not recklessly place himself in a situation where he would be forced to engage in criminal conduct; (3) he had no reasonable legal alternative; and (4) there was a direct causal relationship between the criminal action and the avoidance of the threatened harm

United States v. Lemon, 824 F.2d 763, 765 (9th Cir. 1987).

The evidence, taken in the light most favorable to Mylan, supports each element of the *Lemon* test by a preponderance of the evidence. **Mylan was under an unlawful present threat of death or serious bodily injury,** he did not recklessly place himself in that situation, he had no reasonable legal alternative to his actions, and threat of harm from Mueller was the direct cause for his momentary possession and disposal of the gun. Therefore, we hold that Mylan was entitled to a necessity instruction based on the evidence.

(Emphasis added) Court of Appeals Opinion at p 10. This is the Court of Appeals holding.

The Court in *Jeffrey* indicated that "[u]nder federal case law, a defendant is entitled to a necessity instruction for the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm if he can satisfy four factors similar to those articulated in *Diana* and *Gallegos2*. (Emphasis added) *Jeffrey*, 77 Wn.App. at 225.

And rather than adopting the *Lemon* criteria, the Court in *Jeffrey* stated, "[w]e are persuaded a situation can arise that will permit necessity as a defense. We therefore hold the necessity instruction as set out in *Lemon* can in certain circumstances be a defense to the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm." *Jeffrey*, 77 Wn.App. at 226.

Citing Lemon, Gallegos, and Diana, which cited to WPIC 18.02, the Court in Jeffrey set forth the defense proposed jury instruction that mirrored the then existing WPIC and held that trial court erred by refusing the defense proposed instruction:

² State v. Gallegos, 73 Wn.App. 644, 651, 871 P.2d 621 (1994); State v. Diana, 24 Wn.App. 908, 604 P.2d 1312 (1979)(citing WPIC 18.02)).

- 1. The Defendant reasonably believed he or another was under unlawful and present threat of death or serious bodily injury; and
- 2. The Defendant did not recklessly place himself in a situation where he would be forced to engage in criminal conduct; and
- 3. The Defendant had no reasonable legal alternative; and
- 4. There was a direct causal relationship between the criminal action and the avoidance of the threatened harm.

This defense must be established by a preponderance of the evidence.

Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be persuaded, considering all the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than not true.

Jeffrey, 77 Wn.App. at 224.

The State Supreme Court WPIC instructions committee continues to approve the necessity defense instruction inclusion "(1) the defendant reasonably believed the commission of the crime was necessary to avoid or minimize a harm; ..." WPIC 18.02 (3ed) (2014).

Furthermore, in the notes following WPIC18.02 (3ed) (2014), the Committee expressly acknowledges *Jeffrey*, 77 Wn.App. at 224-22. More recently than *Jeffrey*, in 2005, Division Two of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Parker*, 124 Wn.App. 352, 354-55, 110

P.3d 1152 (2005) used the WPIC necessity instruction including the "reasonable belief" language. *Parker*, 127 Wn.App. at 354.

Contrary to the state's implied assertion, Washington courts are not required to follow federal courts' analysis of federal issues. *Acharya v. Microsoft Corp.*, 189 Wnn.App. 243, 253, 354 P.3d 908 (2015). Rather our Courts follow federal analysis "only if [][they] find its reasoning persuasive." *Acharya*, 189 Wnn.App. at 253 (*quoting Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 750, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013)).

The state's contentions that Court of Appeals decision is contrary to State or Federal precedent is without any legal merit.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The state's arguments in favor of the petition for review are meritless. Accordingly, this Court should deny review.

DATED 28th day of July 2016.

Respectfully submitted,

LISE ELLNER WSBA No. 20955 Attorney for Respondent

low EN

I, Lise Ellner, a person over the age of 18 years of age, served the Clallam County Prosecutor's Office (prosecutor@co.clallam.wa.us and jespinoza@co.clallam.wa.us) and Aaron Mylan (DOC #345724 MCC PO Box 777 Monroe, WA 98272) a true copy of the document to which this certificate is affixed, on July, 28, 2016 Service was made by depositing in the mails of the United States of America, properly stamped and addressed to Mr. Mylan and electronically to the prosecutor.

Lin EN

Signature

OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK

From: Sent: OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK Thursday, July 28, 2016 3:44 PM

To:

'Valerie Greenup'; Lise Ellner; prosecutor@co.clallam.wa.us; jespinoza@co.clallam.wa.us

Subject:

RE: 93357-0-State v. Aaron Mylan-Answer to Petition for Review

Received 7/28/16.

Supreme Court Clerk's Office

Please note that any pleading filed as an attachment to e-mail will be treated as the original. Therefore, if a filing is by e-mail attachment, it is not necessary to mail to the court the original of the document.

Questions about the Supreme Court Clerk's Office? Check out our website: http://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate_trial_courts/supreme/clerks/

Looking for the Rules of Appellate Procedure? Here's a link to them: http://www.courts.wa.gov/court_rules/?fa=court_rules.list&group=app&set=RAP

Searching for information about a case? Case search options can be found here: http://dw.courts.wa.gov/

From: Valerie Greenup [mailto:valerie.liseellner@gmail.com]

Sent: Thursday, July 28, 2016 3:41 PM

To: OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK <SUPREME@COURTS.WA.GOV>; Lise Ellner liseellnerlaw@comcast.net>;

prosecutor@co.clallam.wa.us; jespinoza@co.clallam.wa.us

Subject: 93357-0-State v. Aaron Mylan-Answer to Petition for Review

Attached is Respondent's Answer to Petition for Review.

--

Law Offices of Lise Ellner PO Box 2711 Vashon, WA 98070 Phone: 206.930.1090 liseellnerlaw@comcast.net